IN THE

## Supreme Court of Florida

---

JUAN CARLOS CHAVEZ,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

---

Case No. 94,586  
Death Penalty Appeal  
9th Judicial Circuit on  
Change of Venue from the  
11th Judicial Circuit

### REVISED AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT AUGUSTUS HARPER  
Robert Augustus Harper Law Firm, P.A.  
325 West Park Avenue  
Tallahassee, Florida 32301-1413  
(850) 224-5900/fax (850) 224-9800  
FL Bar No. 127600/GA Bar No. 328360

STEVEN BRIAN WHITTINGTON  
Robert Augustus Harper Law Firm, P.A.  
FL Bar No. 0055972

JASON MICHAEL SAVITZ  
Robert Augustus Harper Law Firm, P.A.  
FL Bar No. 190063

Counsel for Appellant **CHAVEZ**

## **C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

### **1. Preliminary Statement.**

The record on appeal consists of more than 20,000 pages. The pleadings are organized by the clerk into four boxes, 41 volumes consisting of pages 1 through 9,126. The transcripts of proceedings are in five additional boxes, which are organized into 56 volumes and begin with an overlapping numbering system, pages 1 through 11,137. In an effort to simplify record references, the pleadings will be referred to by the letter “R” followed by the appropriate volume number (R1-R41), the transcripts will be referred to by the letter “T” followed by the appropriate volume numbers (T1-T56). Each volume number will be followed by the appropriate page number. By separate motion the documentary exhibits are being forwarded to the Court, and will be referred to as “E” followed by the volume and a page number.

### **2. Statement of the Case and Course of Proceedings Below**

Juan Carlos Chavez was charged (R1-1-6), with three counts: murder in the first degree from a premeditated design and/or while engaged in a sexual battery and/or kidnapping offense against Samuel James Ryce; capital sexual battery; and kidnapping. (R1-1-2). The date of the offense was 11 September 1995. Between 10 December 1995 through the end of December 1997, the parties were involved in discovery and pretrial motions. (R1-7; R1-11). The most significant of the pretrial proceedings was the motion to suppress conducted on 03 November 1997 through 12 November 1997 at which time it was denied. (R1-29).

The case first came on for trial on 20 January 1998 in Miami (T10-1910). After more than three weeks of jury selection proceedings (T32-6567), the trial

was adjourned and a change of venue was granted on 17 February 1998. (R1- 8). The second trial began on 24 August 1998 in Orlando (R33-7606). Jury selection lasted through 27 August 1998. The trial of the facts began on 02 September 1998 before the Honorable Marc Schumacher, Circuit Judge. (R39-8571). On 18 September 1998, after a series of jury questions, the jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged on each count. (R39-8572-73).

The sentencing proceedings began on 26 October 1998. On 27 October 1998 the jury returned an advisory sentence recommending death. The trial court sentenced Mr. Chavez to death on 13 November 1998. (R41-9086-9108; T56-11134-11137).

### **3. Statement of the Facts**

Juan Carlos Chavez was tried, convicted, and sentenced to death on charges that he kidnapped, sexually battered, and murdered Samuel James Ryce. The chief piece of evidence against him was a statement he gave after more than fifty-four hours of police interrogation. The defense unsuccessfully moved to suppress the confession. Mr. Chavez testified at trial that the confession was false, the product of police threats and coercion.

At trial, Mr. Chavez testified he did not kill Samuel James Ryce. The killer was Edward Scheinhaus, the son of Mr. Chavez's employers Jay and Susan Scheinhaus. (T52-10313-18). The defense presented evidence supporting this claim, including evidence that the Scheinhauses planted the murder weapon and Samuel James Ryce's book bag in Mr. Chavez's trailer.

Juan Carlos Chavez was born in Havana, Cuba. (T52-10292). Mr. Chavez testified that he was a member of an anti-communist group in Cuba that worked

to bring down the government of Fidel Castro.<sup>1</sup> (T52-10293-10295). He served time in a Cuban prison for stealing government property and attempting to leave the country. (T52-10301-03). Mr. Chavez escaped to the United States by raft. (T52-10306).

In 1995, Juan Carlos Chavez worked as a handyman for the Scheinhaus family. (T52-10307). The Scheinhauses lived on a large property in southern Miami-Dade County. Mr. Chavez lived in a trailer on the Scheinhaus property. (T44-8647). The Scheinhauses let him use a Ford pickup truck when he had to run errands or do other work for the family. (T51-10091-93). Among other duties, Mr. Chavez frequently cared for horses kept on property owned by David Santana. (T44-8652; T46-9103, 9120; T51-10146-47). That property had an avocado grove on it. There was also a trailer on this property, referred to throughout trial as the “avocado grove trailer” or the “horse-farm trailer.” Both the state and the defense maintained that Samuel James Ryce died in that trailer, and the state introduced evidence that a spot of the child’s blood was found on the floor of that trailer. (T50-9858-59).

Juan Carlos Chavez testified that on the day Samuel James Ryce disappeared, he went to the avocado-grove property to feed the horses. There he found a car parked outside the trailer. (T52-10310). He heard a sound from within the trailer like the closing of a door. (T53-10313). He opened the door of the trailer to find Eddie Scheinhaus standing over the body of a young boy. (T52-

---

<sup>1</sup>The state sought to impeach Mr. Chavez on this point with INS documents showing he never disclosed his political activities to authorities when he arrived in United States.

10313-14). Scheinhaus was nervous and started talking to him, half in English and half in Spanish, saying that it was an accident, that he didn't mean to do it. (T52-10314). Mr. Chavez knelt by the child and found that there was no heartbeat or breathing. (T52-10315). He turned the body over and could see a wound and a blood-stain on the floor. Ed Scheinhaus told Chavez to help him cover the body with some rags. (T52-10316). Mr. Chavez told Scheinhaus that they had to call for help. Ed Scheinhaus, however, brought the car closer to the trailer and opened the trunk. (T52-10318). Scheinhaus then changed his mind and told Mr. Chavez to bring the truck closer to the trailer. Scheinhaus directed Chavez to help him put the body on the floor in the cab of the truck. (T52-10318). Ed Scheinhaus drove away in the truck, instructing Chavez to follow in the car. (T52-10319).

When Mr. Chavez got into the car, he found he had to adjust the seat. In doing so, he touched a gun that was under the seat. (T52-10320). He recognized the gun as one belonging to the Scheinhaus family which he and another handyman had used for target practice. (T52-10321).

Ed Scheinhaus drove away quickly, and Mr. Chavez could not catch up with him. (T52-10321). Mr. Chavez drove the car back to the Scheinhaus property, where he found Ed Scheinhaus, the truck, and the body. (T52-10324-26). Mr. Chavez asked Ed Scheinhaus to explain what had happened, but Scheinhaus wouldn't say anything. (T52-10327). Chavez tried to convince Scheinhaus to call the police, but Scheinhaus remained silent. Mr. Chavez then said that he would do something if Scheinhaus wouldn't. (T52-10327). Ed Scheinhaus grew enraged and told Mr. Chavez that he would tell the police that Chavez helped him. (T52-



10327-28). Ed Scheinhaus told Chavez to help him move the body from the truck to a van Chavez had been working on. (T52-10328).

Mr. Chavez did not call the police. He knew that Scheinhaus would accuse him of being involved, and he feared he would be deported to Cuba. He feared that the Cuban government had learned of his anti-Castro activities, and that something worse than prison awaited him there. (T52-10329-30).

Mr. Chavez testified that sometime three to five days later, Ed Scheinhaus told him that the body was beginning to smell and that Scheinhaus needed him to help dispose of the body. Mr. Chavez refused. (T52-10331). The next day, Scheinhaus told Mr. Chavez that everything was taken care of, though he didn't say how. (T52-10332-33). The day after that, Juan Carlos Chavez noticed three large, plastic planters filled with cement which hadn't been there before. (T53-10407-08). Mr. Chavez realized that Ed Scheinhaus must have put the body in the planters. (T53-10407-08).

When Ed Scheinhaus said the body was taken care of, he also told Mr. Chavez to help him remove the carpet from the floor of the pickup truck. (T52-10333). While they were working on the truck, Mr. Chavez again asked Scheinhaus what had happened. (T52-10333). Ed Scheinhaus said that the boy had tried to run out of the trailer and Scheinhaus got tangled in the bathroom door and couldn't get to the child. (T52-10334). The only thing Scheinhaus could do was to raise his hand and fire. (T52-10334). Scheinhaus grew angry, and refused to say more. He never explained why the boy was there in the trailer. (T52-10335).

The disappearance of Samuel James Ryce went unresolved until 6

December 1995. On that day Ed's mother, Susan Scheinhaus, called the FBI to say that she had found the boy's book bag in Juan Carlos Chavez' trailer. (T44-8697). Ms. Scheinhaus testified that she and her son decided to break into Mr. Chavez' trailer because they believed he was stealing from them. (T44-8661-62). In particular, they were searching for some jewelry and a gun. (T44-8674).

On December 6th, Ms. Scheinhaus arranged to send Mr. Chavez on an errand to get him out of the way. (T44-8664). Once he was gone, she called in a locksmith to pick the lock to the trailer door. (T44-8664-65). Susan and Ed Scheinhaus testified that once the door was open they immediately saw the gun in plain view on a counter just opposite the door. (T44-8682-83; T52-10202-03). They went into the trailer and continued to search. Susan Scheinhaus located a book bag inside a closet. (T52-10204-05). Edward Scheinhaus testified that he did not suspect that the book bag was involved in any crime, he nevertheless used a piece of bathroom tissue to open the bag. (T52-10204-06, 10209-10). The Scheinhauses testified that inside the bag they could see notebooks with the name "Jimmy Ryce" on them. (T44-8691; T52-10209). Mrs. Scheinhaus then called the FBI.

Juan Carlos Chavez testified that neither the book bag nor the gun was in his trailer when he left on 6 December 1995. (T52-10336-37). The defense maintained that the Scheinhauses true purpose in breaking into the trailer was to plant this evidence. In support of this claim, the defense called Wilson Moncada, the locksmith who jimmied the lock of the Chavez trailer for the Scheinhauses. Locksmith Moncada testified that the Scheinhauses told him they were missing guns and jewelry and wanted to check the handyman's trailer to see if the items

were there. (T51-10072). Susan Scheinhaus stated Mr. Moncada never opened the trailer door (T44-8664); Moncada testified that he opened the trailer and looked inside. He testified there was no gun on the table where the Scheinhauses claimed to have found the gun. (T51-10077-78).

The defense also introduced evidence that the Scheinhauses gave contradictory statements to the police about the concrete-filled planters where the body was found. At trial, Ed Scheinhaus testified he knew nothing about the planters. He swore he had never seen them before Mr. Chavez's arrest, and maintained he did not know where on his family's property the planters were found. (T52-10201, 10247-48). But on 7 December 1995, he informed officers that Mr. Chavez placed the planters there to keep the horses out of the area. On 07 December Firefighter Anthony Fernandez searched the Scheinhaus property with "cadaver dogs," dogs trained to detect dead bodies. (T52-10268-73). Two dogs showed great interest in the planters, sniffing around the base of the planters, and even jumping up on top of them. (T52-10274-75). When Firefighter Fernandez asked Ed Scheinhaus about the planters, Scheinhaus stated that Juan Carlos Chavez had placed them there to keep horses out of the area. (T52-10276).

Susan Scheinhaus testified that she first noticed the planters in October, and that Juan Carlos Chavez had put them there in order to keep the horses out of the area. (T44-8736). But on 7 December 1995, Susan Scheinhaus told Metro-Dade Detective Chris Dangler that the planters had not been there approximately three weeks before Mr. Chavez' arrest in December. (T51-10103-04).

The defense maintained that Susan Scheinhaus also tried to protect her son

by not telling FBI agents that her son, Edward, was present when they went into Mr. Chavez' trailer. When FBI agents first came onto the Scheinhaus property on 6 December 1995, Susan Scheinhaus did not tell the agents that her son Ed accompanied her when she broke into the trailer. (T51-10137-38). Special Agent Richard Lunn testified that Susan Scheinhaus behaved like "a mother trying to keep her son out of something that she thought at the time wouldn't be a good situation to be in." (T51-10130).

Ed Scheinhaus claimed to have known that Mr. Chavez was guilty within two days of the disappearance of Jimmy Ryce. (T51-10177). Scheinhaus came to this conclusion because he could put Chavez "at that place at that time." (T51-10197). Scheinhaus said he knew this because he knew Mr. Chavez was at the horse farm/avocado grove at the time Samuel James Ryce disappeared. Ed Scheinhaus worked at night and usually slept between 9:00 a.m. and 2:00 or 3:00 p.m. (T51-10193). According to Scheinhaus, on the afternoon of 11 September 1995, Mr. Chavez came into his room, woke him up, and told him that he, Chavez, was going to the horse farm. (T51-10193-94). This was the only time Ed Scheinhaus could remember Mr. Chavez doing this. (T51-10193, 10196). Even though Mr. Chavez was free to take the truck to go on errands so long as Susan Scheinhaus did not need it (T51-10091-93), the only time Mr. Chavez ever allegedly asked for permission was this one occasion. Ed Scheinhaus never shared these suspicions with the police or FBI.

The defense also called Ed Scheinhaus as a defense witness. At trial, Ed Scheinhaus claimed to have an alibi for the afternoon of 11 September 1995. Scheinhaus denied ever having even gone to the avocado grove/horse farm

property. (T52-10214). He was impeached with prior sworn testimony in which he admitted to having been to the trailer two or three times. (T52-10214-15). He maintained that he was on house arrest for a DUI conviction, and that he could not have left the house outside of his nighttime working hours, 10:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. (T52-10216-17, 10221-22). When Mr. Scheinhaus was supposed to be home, he would receive phone calls at random times. (T52-10241-42, 10517-18). When this happened, he had to place an ankle bracelet he wore against a device attached to his phone in order to prove that he was home. (T52-10242). The records of Sergio Cabrer, the house arrest officer who supervised Scheinhaus (T53-10516-30), failed to show one way or another whether or not Ed Scheinhaus was at home on 11 September 1995. (T53-10527). Sergio Cabrer testified that he would allow Scheinhaus to go out during the day if it was on a work-related matter. Cabrer made no record of the occasions on which it happened. In fact, Ed Scheinhaus received a speeding ticket at 2:00 in the afternoon of 06 September 1995 on the MacArthur Causeway. (T53-10527). Mr. Cabrer, who was supervising more than 90 people at the time, testified that the incident, “didn’t generate any violation, so I am sure I let him out.” (T53-10522-25). There was no record of this in the house-arrest file.

**a. Motion to suppress.**

After Susan Scheinhaus and her son went into Mr. Chavez’s trailer on 6 December 1995, Ms. Scheinhaus telephoned the FBI and reported that she had found the missing child’s book bag. (R18-4025). FBI agents and Metro-Dade Police officers came to the Scheinhaus property and interviewed her. (R18-4026-27). Based on what Susan Scheinhaus told them, law enforcement officers

decided to seize and question Mr. Chavez. (R18-4028). The legality of the arrest, detention and lengthy interrogation that followed was disputed both in a motion to suppress and at trial.<sup>2</sup> The police never made a video or audio recording of any part of the interrogation. The only verbatim record of any part of the investigation was a transcript of the final statement, which began at 11:45 p.m. on Friday 8 December 1995, and ended at 2:00 a.m. on Saturday, 9 December 1995. At the motion to suppress, the only evidence of what happened during Mr. Chavez's first 52 hours in custody was testimony from the various law enforcement officers involved in the interrogation, which established the following sequence of events.

Juan Carlos Chavez returned home on Wednesday, 6 December 1995 from a fictitious errand with Susan Scheinhaus' father at about 7:35 p.m. (R18-4030). Waiting for him were at least five FBI agents who had concealed themselves in order to surprise Mr. Chavez. (R18-4030-31, 4037). All were armed and wore bullet-proof vests and "raid" jackets. (R18-4029-30, 4037). When Mr. Chavez got out of the truck, they rushed him, weapons drawn, shouting "Police!" and "Freeze!" (R18-4031-32). They ordered Mr. Chavez to lie face-down on the ground and searched him. (R18-4032). The officers then turned him over to Metro-Dade detectives Pat Diaz and Juan Murias, who "asked" him to "voluntarily" accompany them to the homicide office. The detectives handcuffed Mr. Chavez and took him to the station. (R18-4033, 4063-64, 4155-56, 4232-4236).

---

<sup>2</sup>The motion to suppress is located at R13-3028-48. Defense counsel filed a comprehensive, 54-page memorandum of law in support of the motion, found at R17-3878-3932.

At the police station, Mr. Chavez was kept in a locked interrogation room. (R19-4549-50). The interrogation room was a windowless chamber about ten feet by ten feet, with three chairs and a table in it. (R18-4288-89). Whenever Mr. Chavez left the room, he was accompanied by one or more police officers. (R18-4191, 4554-56). On bathroom breaks, the police accompanied Mr. Chavez inside the bathroom and observed what he did there. FBI Special Agents Hexter and Lunn attempted to attend the questioning of Mr. Chavez, but Detective Diaz refused to allow them into the interrogation room. (R18-4213-14).

After some “background” questioning, (R18-4071), the police had Mr. Chavez execute a *Miranda* waiver form (R18-4076). Detectives Diaz and Murias interrogated Mr. Chavez until 10:00 p.m., when they decided to have Detective Thomas Mote conduct a polygraph examination on Mr. Chavez. The polygraph examination began at 1:05 a.m. on Thursday, 7 December 1995, and continued until 6:00 a.m., ten-and-one-half hours after Mr. Chavez was arrested. Throughout this questioning, Mr. Chavez maintained that he had nothing to do with the disappearance of Samuel James Ryce. (R18-4081). According to the officers, when confronted with the book bag found in his trailer, Mr. Chavez stated that he found it in a bin where horse feed was kept. (R18-4080-81).

Detectives Diaz and Murias resumed the interrogation at 6:30 a.m. (R18-4095). They told Mr. Chavez he had failed a polygraph examination and was lying. (R18-4095, 4188). Mr. Chavez continued to deny any involvement in the disappearance of Samuel James Ryce. (R18-4095-98). This phase of the interrogation continued for approximately two more hours. (R18-4100).

At 9:15 a.m. on Wednesday, 7 December 1995, the police deployed a fresh

interrogation team: Detectives Terry Goldston and Luis Estopinan. (R18-4190). At this point Mr. Chavez had been in police custody for just under fourteen hours. Mr. Chavez continued to deny any involvement in the disappearance of Jimmy Ryce. (R19-4431-33). The detectives continued to reject this story. (R19-4431-35). According to Estopinan, after about two more hours of interrogation, Mr. Chavez said he would tell them what he knew about Samuel James Ryce. (R19-4435, 4438).

Estopinan testified that Mr. Chavez then told him that Jimmy Ryce had been killed in an accident at the horse farm/avocado grove. Mr. Chavez had seen the boy at the farm playing with the horses on several occasions. (R19-4040-41). On September 11, Mr. Chavez offered him a ride home. (R19-4041-42). As the boy was closing the gate behind the truck, the vehicle went into reverse and crushed him against the gate. (R19-4042-43). By the time Mr. Chavez pulled the truck away, Samuel James Ryce was dead. (R19-4043). The detectives decided to take Mr. Chavez to the horse farm to show them what happened. (R19-4446). After giving Mr. Chavez lunch, the detectives continued to interrogate Mr. Chavez until about 2:15 p.m. on Thursday, 7 December 1995. (R19-4448).

At 2:30 p.m., Detectives Estopinan, Goldston, Piderman, Diaz, and Murias took Mr. Chavez to the horse farm. (R19-4448-49). On the way back to the station Detective Estopinan began “pleading” with Mr. Chavez to help them find the body. (R19-4454). He told Mr. Chavez that the parents needed to give their child a proper burial. (R19-4454). Mr. Chavez tearfully replied that the boy no longer existed. (R19-4454). The detectives pulled the car over and questioned Mr. Chavez about this. (R19-4455-56). Mr. Chavez told the detectives he had

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