IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUAN CARLOS CHAVEZ

Appellant,

vs. CASE NO. SC94586

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0802743 Westwood center 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739 (813) 326-1292 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR STATE OF FLORIDA

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

As discussed above under Issue II, appellant's confession was voluntarily given following multiple Miranda warnings. Additionally, the delay in the probable cause determination was directly and solely related to appellant's willingness to cooperate with law enforcement officers in their attempt to locate a missing child. No evidence presented at the suppression hearing indicated any wrongdoing or coercion on the part of the detectives. Finally, it cannot be said that the delay in holding a probable cause determination induced appellant's confession. Appellant's oral confession to having kidnapped, raped, and murdered Jimmy Ryce was provided to Detective Estopian within just a few hours of the 48 hours generally considered reasonable under McLaughlin.²² Under these circumstances, even if a Fourth Amendment violation

²²At approximately 8:05 p.m. on December 8th, apellant asked for Detective Estopian (R18, 4146). In the presence of Estopian and Jimenez, appellant then confessed to the sexual battery and murder of Jimmy Ryce. (R19, 4505-4509). His verbal statement

occurred, appellant has not demonstrated that any of the evidence against him was collected as a result of the delayed probable cause hearing.

While the Supreme Court has declined to pass upon the question of the applicability of the exclusionary rule to McLaughlin violations, suppression would clearly be inappropriate under the facts of the instant case. In Nix v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431, 448 (1984), the Court adopted the inevitable discovery exception which provides that evidence obtained as the result of unconstitutional police procedure may still be admissible provided the evidence would ultimately be discovered by legal means. "The rationale underlying the doctrine is that the prosecution should not be put in a worse position in regard to the admissibility of probative evidence by police misconduct than it would have been if there had no error or misconduct." State v. McLaughlin, 454 So.2d 617, 622 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). By seeking exclusion of his otherwise voluntary confession in this case, the appellant seeks to place the State in a much worse position than it would have been had it afforded appellant a prompt determination of probable cause for continued detention.²³

concluded at 10:50 p.m. (R19, 4509). Appellant then agreed to give a formal statement which lasted from 11:45 p.m. until 2:20 a.m. on December 9, 1995, including a review of each transcribed page by appellant. (R19, 4532-4542).

²³The Supreme Court recognized in <u>United States v. Montalvo-Murillo</u>, 495 U.S. 711 (1990) that a violation of the time limits of the federal bail reform did not require the drastic remedy of release of an otherwise dangerous offender. While noting that the time limits in the act recognize a vital liberty interest is at stake, the Court stated:

Whatever other remedies may exist for detention without a timely hearing or for conduct that is aggravated or intentional, a matter not before us here, we hold that once the Government discovers that the time limits have expired, it may ask for a prompt detention hearing and make its case to detain based upon the requirements set forth in the statute.

An order of release in the face of the Government's ability to prove at once that detention is required by the law has neither causal nor

In order to be subject to suppression, evidence must be considered the direct product or "fruit" of the particular government conduct that invaded the Fourth Amendment. Murray v. United States, 487 U.S. 533, 537 (1988). To be sure, the final statement was possible, at least in part, because appellant was in custody at that time. But his custody was the product of probable cause, not the product of the delay in the magistrates probable cause finding. The time of the probable cause determination would have affected appellant's custody only if there had been no probable cause to hold him. Because there was probable cause to hold appellant from the outset, none of the circumstances that could have affected appellant's statement would have been changed if the probable cause determination had been accelerated in accordance with the Supreme Court's holding in McLaughlin. As noted under Issue One, the police had ample probable cause to hold appellant not only for theft of the Scheinhaus' property, but also to hold appellant for the death of Jimmy Ryce within 48 hours of his initial detention.²⁴ See Gerstein, 420 U.S. 103, 120 (the standard for a probable cause hearing is the same as that for an arrest). See also Wright v. State, 633 A.2d 329, 334 (Del. 1993) (rejecting defendant's contention that any delay in presentment to question "a person arrested for one crime about an unrelated crime is unreasonable.").

In New York v. Harris, 495 U.S. 14 (1990), the Supreme Court addressed a

proportional relation to any harm caused by the delay in holding the hearing. When a hearing is held, a defendant subject to detention already will have suffered whatever inconvenience and uncertainty a timely hearing would have spared him. Release would not restore these benefits to him. United States v. Morrison, 449 U.S. 361 (1981) (remedies should be tailored to the injury suffered).

²⁴Within the 48 hour time frame appellant had provided officers with two stories implicating himself in the death of Jimmy Ryce and the destruction of his body–i.e., the 'accident' and 'Ivan' stories.

similar suppression argument based upon an allegedly unlawful arrest. The defendant in <u>Harris</u> was arrested in his home. The arresting officers had probable cause to arrest him, but they did not comply with <u>Payton v. New York</u>, 445 U.S. 573 (1980), which forbids a suspect's arrest in his home other than pursuant to a warrant. After being taken from his home, the defendant made an incriminating statement in the station house. The Court held that the station house statement was not a fruit of the <u>Payton</u> violation. The Court noted that the defendant was not "unlawfully in custody" while he was detained at the station house, because "the officers had probable cause to arrest [him] for a crime." 495 U.S. at 18. Because the defendant's statement was not "the fruit of having been arrested in the home rather than someplace else," it did not have to be excluded from evidence. <u>Id.</u> at 19.

A similar result was reached in <u>United States v. Daniels</u>, 64 F.3d 311, 314 (7th Cir. 1995), where a defendant argued that the probable cause determination was unreasonably delayed because "they were collecting evidence to justify his arrest." The court rejected this argument, stating that even if the police conducted a lineup after the defendant's arrest, the police did not do this to justify the initial arrest:

...Daniels argument seems to interpret *Riverside* to preclude law enforcement from bolstering its case against a defendant while he awaits his *Gerstein* hearing; that is a ludicrous position. *Gerstein* and its progeny simply prohibit law enforcement from detaining a defendant to gather evidence to justify his arrest, which is a wholly different matter. Probable cause to arrest Daniels already existed and that is what the Ewar's affidavit reported. We therefore reject Daniels contention that he did not receive a prompt *Gerstein* hearing.

Daniels, 64 F.3d at 314. (emphasis added).

Suppression might be an appropriate remedy in a case where the police had no legitimate reason to detain a defendant and the failure to afford the defendant a prompt probable cause determination enabled the police to gather additional evidence to

Justify the defendant's continued detention. This is not such a case. As noted under Issue One above, the police had probable cause to hold the appellant for grand theft at the time he volunteered to come to the station for questioning. A probable cause hearing for which appellant has no right to be present, would not have resulted in either the termination of questioning or appellant's release.²⁵ Appellant cooperated with the police and his continued cooperation and police attempts to verify his statements regarding the missing child were objectively reasonable under the circumstances.

Finally, assuming, *arguendo*, this Court is inclined to apply the drastic remedy of suppression to appellant's final confession, such a ruling does not mandate reversal of appellant's murder and kidnapping convictions. All of the State's compelling physical evidence, including the murder weapon and Jimmy's book bag from appellant's trailer, as well as Jimmy's blood in the horse/avocado farm trailer would have been found without appellant's final statement..²⁶ This evidence was gathered through search warrants and/or appellant's valid consent to conduct the search. (S7, 1713; S8, 1809; R 4613). Appellant gave two inconsistent statements placing him with Jimmy at the time of his death as well as a claim that he disposed of Jimmy's body. Moreover, appellant's request for the death penalty constitutes a damaging

²⁵The Court in <u>Gerstein</u> made clear that the Fourth Amendment does not require that the determination of probable cause be made in a formal, adversarial proceeding where the defendant is accorded the right to counsel and the right to introduce evidence or confront evidence against him. After a warrantless arrest, the judicial officer is simply required to make the same judgement, under similar procedures, that he would make in deciding whether to authorize an arrest warrant; as the Court noted, 420 U.S. at 120, probable cause in that context "traditionally has been decided by a magistrate in a nonadversary proceeding on hearsay and written testimony."

²⁶Appellant's description of the bush hook which was made during the first 48 hours of questioning would also be admissible.

admission under the circumstances. All of these statements were voluntarily made within 48 hours of appellant's initial contact with the police. Consequently, admission of the final version of appellant's confession was harmless error as to appellant's kidnapping and murder convictions.

(ii) Constitutional Challenge

Appellant also raises a constitutional challenge to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.130 and 3.133(a) which, respectively, require a first appearance to occur within 24 hours of arrest, but allow a probable cause determination within 48 hours of arrest. According to appellant, this constitutes an unreasonable delay in the timing of a probable cause determination in violation of the dictates of the McLaughlin case and the Fourth Amendment. However, where appellant eventually received a probable cause determination and where appellant voluntarily confessed to the crime, the constitutional challenge is moot. Cf. McLaughlin, at 1667 (class certification avoided mootness); See also State v. Milwood, 430 So.2d 563, 564 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983)(Fifth amendment violation rendered moot where defendant consented to search).

Moreover, on its face, Florida's Rule complies with the dictates of McLaughlin, that is a probable cause determination must be made within 48 hours. It is incumbent upon an individual defendant to show that any shorter period of time was unreasonable under the circumstances. The fact that the Florida Rules allow for a bifurcated proceeding does not render the Florida Rule unconstitutional. In this case, in addition to theft of property, the police were aware that appellant was in possession of Jimmy Ryce's book bag. Appellant eventually told the detectives false stories of Jimmy's demise. Since it is clear appellant was involved in Jimmy's

disappearance, the detectives wanted to confirm the location of the nine year old child, alive or dead. The possibility, however remote, that Jimmy remained alive certainly motivated the police in this case. As the final confession was made within just a few hours of the 48 hours provided for by McLaughlin, appellant's voluntary confession should be admitted.

C. Whether The Delay In Appellant's First Appearance Interfered With His Right To Counsel

Appellant next claims that the delay in his first appearance resulted in a deprivation of his right to counsel. However, a probable cause determination is not a "critical stage" which requires appointment of counsel. <u>See Gerstein</u>, 95 S.Ct. 865, 867. Thus, the delay in first appearance had no bearing on appellant's right to counsel.

Appellant's reliance on <u>Peoples v. State</u>, 612 So.2d 555 (Fla. 1992), is misplaced under these circumstances. First, appellant did receive counsel as soon as was feasible after his custodial restraint. Thus, no infringement of appellant's right to counsel occurred. <u>See Traylor v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 957, 970 (Fla. 1992).

More importantly, appellant was properly Mirandized and knowingly waived his right to counsel on at least three separate occasions prior to voluntarily confessing. Consequently, the facts of the instant case are starkly contrasted from those in the Peoples case.

In <u>Peoples</u>, the defendant refused to answer questions after being read his rights.

At booking, he was told of his right to counsel and, when asked if he would like to call a lawyer of his choice, responded affirmatively and called attorney Bruce Raticoff. The following day, he attended first appearance, was declared partially indigent, and was appointed the services of a public defender. On March 4, the court relieved the public defender of representation and recognized Raticoff as attorney of record. Peoples subsequently was released on bail, and Raticoff was replaced by

appointed counsel. Peoples, 612 So.2d 555, 556.

Following defendant's release and after the defendant clearly retained counsel, the police tape recorded several phone conversations between the defendant and his codefendant.

Ultimately, this Court ruled that, by taping the conversations, law enforcement officials acted improperly by knowingly circumvented the defendant's right to counsel. Peoples, 612 So.2d at 557. This ruling simply does not apply to the instant case wherein appellant knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to counsel on multiple occasions prior to giving his voluntary confession.

Finally, as in <u>Peoples</u>, should any error relating to appellant's right to counsel be found, such error must be deemed harmless. <u>Peoples</u>, 612 So.2d at 557 (citing <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986)).

D. Whether The Failure To Allow The Public Defender To Speak To Appellant Violated His Sixth Amendment Right To Counsel.

Appellant maintains that his Sixth Amendment right to counsel was violated when Assistant Public Defender Georgi was denied her request to speak to the individual in custody relating to Jimmy Ryce's disappearance. However, once again, appellant repeatedly waived his right to counsel prior to confessing. Thus, appellant's statements were properly admitted. See Smith v. State, 699 So.2d 629 (Fla. 1997)(fact that the right to counsel had attached is not alone enough to invoke Sixth Amendment; accused must actually invoke right to counsel to receive protections). See also Harvey v. State, 529 So.2d 1083 (Fla. 1988)(where public defender took it on himself to go to police station to see if defendant, who had not requested an attorney, needed a lawyer, police had no duty to let public defender talk to defendant while he was making his statement to police, following waiver of rights).

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN REMOVING A PRIOR RESTRAINT AGAINST SHOWING VISUAL DEPICTIONS OF JURORS.

Appellant claims that the trial court's reversal of his prior restraint against the media on publishing or broadcasting the jurors' images violated his right to a fair trial. Appellant's argument lacks any merit.

A. The Issue Is Moot

To the extent appellant is simply arguing the trial court erred in refusing to prohibit the media from photographing jurors, the State submits that this question is moot. Appellant did not appeal this order.²⁷ The trial is over, the issue as presented to this Court is moot. See generally Vasilinda v. Lozano, 631 So.2d 1082, 1085 (Fla. 1994)(declining to address journalists appeal of an order prohibiting news media from photographing jurors where the trial had ended and the defendant had been acquitted); Sarasota Herald-Tribune Co. v. Talley, 523 So.2d 1163 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988)(finding that although a "gag" order issued at the time of trial may have departed from the essential requirements of the law, the issue was moot as the defendant was convicted as the petition for review was pending). Consequently, this Court should decline appellant's invitation to address this point on direct appeal.

B. <u>The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Removing The Prior Restraint Against The Media</u>

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